IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,454

Florida Bar No: 184170

DANIEL H. BRANTLEY

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Daniel Brantley, will be referred to as Plaintiff or Brantley.

The Respondent, Girl Scout Council of Tropical Florida, Inc. a Florida corporation, will be referred to as Defendant or Council.

The Record on Appeal will be designated by the letter "R".

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

This case falls into an established exception to the Fireman's Rule. Threfore, even if the Fireman's Rule is retained in Florida, this cause of action should be reinstated since the Defendant was on the premises and could have warned the firemen of a condition not open and obvious, and therefore this is an exception to the Fireman's Rule and presents a jury question.

In this case the firemen were on the premises for four or five hours fighting the fire, and officers of the Defendant and the maintenance people were also on the premises talking with the firemen and assisting them. Therefore the question of whether they should have advised the firemen was a question to be submitted to the jury.

One clear exception to the Fireman's Rule is that there will be liability if the Defendant was on the premises and did not warn the fireman of a dangerous condition which is not open and obvious, and this situation creates a jury question. In the present case the firemen were on the premises fighting the fire from 4:00 P.M. to 8:00 or 9:00 P.M. and officers, as well as maintenance people, employed by the Defendant were all on the premises. They did not warn Fireman Brantley of the dangerous condition which was not open and obvious to him; namely post holes for a fence which had been taken out, leaving the large holes still in the ground, with brush grown over them, such that Fireman Brantley stepped in one, was severely injured and has not worked since then.

Additionally, there was additional discovery still to do,

namely deposing the additional maintenance people as to the covered holes, so additionally the Summary Judgment was premature. Therefore this is simply another situation of an improper Summary Judgment.

This is an appeal from a Summary Final Judgment which was premature since the lower court entered it before the Plaintiff had an opportunity to complete discovery. The Summary Judgment must therefore be reversed so that the Plaintiff can complete discovery and a jury can decide the factual issues. The Plaintiff is entitled to an opportunity to depose the Defendant's agents concerning which of the Defendant's staff had knowledge of the holes on their property and which of the Defendant's staff could have warned the Plaintiff about the holes. Additionally, the facts already in the Record demonstrate issues of fact as to this known dangerous condition precluding Summary Judgment.

This case arises from a grass fire which occurred in the afternoon of January 21, 1985, on the Defendant's property at Camp Choee, owned and operated by the Defendant Girl Scout Council of Tropical Florida, Inc. (R 1-3; 151-239). The Plaintiff a Dade County fire fighter was dispatched to the Defendant's property along with several other units to fight a fire which posed a threat to the campgrounds and buildings (R 1-3; 80-141); 151-239); 243-335). The Plaintiff, Dan Brantley, is a 41 year old fire fighter, who had worked as a fireman for over seven years (R 80-141) prior to this incident. Mr. Brantley was injured when he stepped in one hole of a row of unfilled post holes 6"-8" in diameter, which were concealed by low lying brush,

on the Defendant's property (R 80-141; 354-380). Mr. Brantley responded with his unit, to the Defendant's fire at approximately 4:30 P.M. and assisted until the fire was put out, about 8 or 9 o'clock that evening (R 80-141). The fire was moving in a north to south path and, in an effort to contain it, Mr. Brantley was assigned to start a back fire on the south line of the fire, to burn out the area that would otherwise feed the main fire as it moved south (R 80-141). Brantley built the backfire by walking backwards in a straight line east to west on the south side of the Defendant's property which was fenced by an eight foot chain link fence. Brantley set the backfire just inside, or to the north of the fence, on the Defendant's property. The area was covered by low bushes, Palmetto and coral rock and was typical Florida terrain in its natural state (R 80-141; 336-353; 354-380). It was dusk and difficult for Brantley to see because of the underbrush, and the smoke from the fire (Depo. 50; R 80-141). However he made his way along the fence line through the low lying brush and, he stumbled and fell, and as a result injured his back (R 80-141, 243-412). As he was in an area between the oncoming main fire and the eight foot fence, Mr. Brantley was forced to get up and keep moving after he fell in order to escape from the burning area. When he got to the west end of the property he had to climb a four foot fence to get away from the fire (R 80-141; 354-380). After the fire was under control, he went back to the area where he fell and discovered a row of unfilled holes 6" to 8" in diameter. Although Mr. Brantley did not know at the time he fell that he was walking

al ng a row of hol s, he went back to the area where he fell, after the fire was under control, and found out that he had stepped into holes which were apparently old post holes, left unfilled after the Defendant had the chain link fence installed (R 80-141; 354-380). He was severely injured and has not worked since then.

At the time of the fire the executive director of the Camp was present and remained there throughout the fire. Similarly, the site manager, property manager and the executive director were all on the premises during the time the fire was being While these people and other members of the Defendant's fought. staff communicated with the firemen, no one warned of the brush covered row of unfilled post holes located along the inside of the chain link fence (R 151-239; 80-141; 264-335). Ms. Tejera stated that she was not aware of the existence of any holes in that area, that she did not know when they might have been made or whether any other member of the Defendant's staff knew anything about the post holes. She stated in her Deposition that several other people had been on the staff who might have information regarding the property and when the post holes were made, and about the grounds and overall upkeep (R 151-239).

Although the Subpoena for Deposition and the Plaintiff's Interrogatories requested the Defendant to produce the person with the most information regarding the post holes and maintenance of the property, the one person produced by the Defendant, Ms. Tejera, admitted that she did not know about the post holes and she did not maintain the property, although she

named several persons on the staff who did have that information (R 6; 8-9; 151-239).

Specifically, Ms. Tejera named the executive director and the 28 people on the board of directors, and gave a list of names of thirteen people <u>present</u> on the grounds on the day of the fire. However she did not provide addresses or phone numbers for them, at the time of her Deposition, which was 3 days before the hearing on the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Ms. Tejera identified both the site manager and the property manager as the people who took care of the grounds and although she claimed to be the person most knowledgeable about the premises she repeatedly answered "I don't know" to questions about the premises, maintenance and upkeep of the grounds during her Deposition (R 151-239; Depo. 21; 30,34,37,38,39,40,41,43,44,46,47,48,52,53,54,55,56,59,64).

In summary, the facts set out in the lower court's Judgment were undisputed with regard to the concealed post holes presenting a trap to the Plaintiff; that the Defendant had a duty to warn about this concealed danger and that there were a number of people who had an opportunity to warn the Plaintiff. However, as the Plaintiff was not allowed to complete discovery, he was unable to determine which of the Defendant's staff knew about the unfilled holes.

The Defendant moved for Summary Judgment solely on the basis of Ms. Tejera's Deposition in which she admitted not having any knowledge of the holes. Ms. Tejera's Deposition, however, does not answer for the numerous other people who, she admitted, did

have that information and would know when the holes were made, etc. It is undisputed that the Plaintiff was denied the opportunity to depose these other individuals including the site manager, the property manager, the executive director and the thirteen staff members who were on the grounds at the time the fire was being fought.

The judge was informed that the Plaintiff had not completed discovery on the central issue of the case (R 243-263). the court disregarded this and summarily disposed of the case applying the Fireman's Rule. It is submitted that the application of the Fireman's Rule was premature here because the condition, i.e., the unfilled post holes, were undisputedly a latent trap on the property, totally unrelated to the fire. Further because the Defendant's staff had summoned the firemen to their property, therefore knew of their presence, they undisputedly had a duty to warn of the holes and, lastly, there was ample opportunity for any one of the several staff members to advise the firemen about the holes. Ms. Tejera stated that she was at the service center at the front of the property when the firemen arrived and remained on the property and that Charlie Pifer, the property manager, remained on the property with the firemen during the time the fire was being fought. Mr. Pifer was at the front gate (R 151-239). The Record shows at least one fireman stayed at the front gate on the fire truck throughout the fire. Lt. Dewey F. Henry stated that he was on Engine 34 with Dan Brantley the day of the fire on the Defendant's property. He stated the Engine 34 pulled up to the front entrance of the property where the main

building was and that the engine remained parked there for a long time (R 354-380). In any event Mr. Pifer, the property manager, was on the grounds walking around during the entire time (R 151-239). Additionally, Mr. Danford, who was working with Unit 36 on this fire, stated in his Deposition that he remained at the fire engine the entire time, a 3-4 hour period that the fire was being fought. Similarly Lee Warrick, the driver on Engine 34, stated that Engine 34, which the Plaintiff arrived on, remained at the entrance near one of the main buildings for about 20 minutes (R 381-412) and then to the south field where Mr. Brantley was assigned to back fire. He stated that the ground was not visible because it was covered with grass and weeds.

While there was apparently ample opportunity for any one of several of the Defendant's staff to warn the firemen of the existence of the post holes, no one did.

Mr. Brantley suffered a painful back injury after he stumbled over the unfilled holes on the Defendant's property. As a result of this injury he was unable to continue on active duty as a fire fighter and was assigned to light duty, doing administrative work for the fire department (R 80-141; 354-380; 326-335; 336-353). Mr. Brantley attempted to discover which of the Defendant's staff knew about the holes and which of the 13 people present during the fire failed to warn the firemen about the holes but the Defendant resisted producing any information until just three days before the hearing on Summary Judgment. This did not leave the Plaintiff enough time to take Depositions of these 13 people, or anyone else, and as a result, there had

been, in effect, no discovery accomplished as to the Defendant's knowledge of the hidden post holes, and therefore the Summary Judgment was premature. The lower court was advised of this, but would not allow the Plaintiff an opportunity to complete discovery prior to granting Summary Judgment (R 243-263).

In disregard of the disputed fact that there was a concealed trap on the Defendant's property, i.e., the hidden post holes, which undisputedly gave rise to a legal duty to warn the Plaintiff and the undisputed evidence that several people had an opportunity to warn about this hidden trap, and with absolutely no evidence to show which of the Defendant's staff knew of this hazard, because the Plaintiff had not been given an opportunity to depose them, the court granted the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Appellant timely entered an appeal seeking a reversal of the Judgment (R 413-415; 240).

In the Third District the Plaintiff advised the Court that the Fireman's Rule was currently being reevaluated in the cases of Sanderson v. Freedom Savings and Loan Association, 496 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) and Kilpatrick v. Sklar, 497 So.2d 969 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987). Plaintiff asserted that his Complaint was similar to the one filed by the police office in Kilpatrick wherein the police officer asserted that even if the Fireman's Rule was to remain part of the law in Florida, it was inapplicable where the police officer is on the premises for reasons unrelated to the manner in which he was injured and injury resulted from the independent act of negligence on the part of the landowner. In addition the Plaintiff in Kilpatrick

specifically requested that the Florida Supreme Court abrogate the Fireman's Rule, which of course would entitle him to go forward with his lawsuit. The Third District per curiam affirmed the Summary Judgment entered against the Plaintiff, citing Sanderson along with several other cases addressing the Fireman's Rule (A 1). This Court accepted jurisdiction to review the Third District Court of Appeal's decision in this case involving the Fireman's Rule.

SLMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case falls into an established exception to the Fireman's Rule. Therefore even if the Fireman's Rule is retained in Florida, this cause of action should be reinstated since the Defendant was on the premises and could have warned the firemen of a condition not open and obvious, and therefore this is an exception to the Fireman's Rule and presents a jury question.

In this case the firemen were on the premises for four or five hours fighting the fire, and the officers of the Defendant and the maintenance people were also on the premises talking with the firemen and assisting them. Therefore the question of whether they should have advised the firemen was a question to be submitted to the jury.

The Summary Judgment was granted based on the Fireman's Rule, as the Plaintiff is a fireman. However one clear exception to the Fireman's Rule is that there is liability of the Defendant if the Defendant is on the premises and does not warn the fireman of a dangerous condition not open and obvious. In the present case the firemen were on the premises fighting the fire from 4:00 P.M. to 8 or 9 P.M., and officers, as well as maintenance people, of the Defendant were on the premises, and did not warn the fireman of the dangerous condition not open and obvious, namely post holes for a fence which had been taken out, leaving the large holes still in the ground, with brush grown over them, such that the fireman stepped in one and was severely injured and can no longer work as a fireman. Therefore the facts already in the Record clearly preclude Summary Judgment.

Additionally, there was additional discovery still to do, namely deposing the additional maintenance people as to the covered holes, so additionally the Summary Judgment was premature.

Therefore this is simply another situation of an improper Summary Judgment; as it was entered before the Plaintiff had an opportunity to complete discovery on the most significant issue in this case, and additionally because Summary Judgment was entered even though there were genuine factual issues to be decided.

Florida law mandates reversal where summary judgment deprives a party of a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery and also requires reversal where there are genuine issues of fact left to be determined. Both rules require reversal in this case as the Record reveals that four days before the Hearing on Summary Judgment, the Plaintiff learned for the first time that there were numerous people who were knowledgeable about the grounds and when the post holes were dug, but the Defendant produced only one person for deposition who admittedly did not have any information about it. The Plaintiff must necessarily depose those people to determine which of the Defendant's staff had knowledge of the existence of the holes. Similarly as the Defendant's knowledge about the holes remains an issue of fact, Summary Judgment must be reversed to resolve this question as it will establish the Defendant's liability for the Plaintiff's injury.

I. THIS SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS IMPROPER BECAUSE

(A) THE EVIDENCE INDICATED A JURY QUESTION

AS TO A DANGEROUS CONDITION NOT OPEN AND

OBVIOUS, AND (B) IT WAS PREMATURE AS DISCOVERY

WAS NOT COMPLETED

It is undisputed in this case that the row of unfilled post holes located on the Defendant's property were concealed by brush and posed a latent dangerous condition of which the Defendant was required to warn the Plaintiff, as a matter of law. Whitten v. Miami-Dade Water & Sewer Authority et al., 357 So.2d 430 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

[The sole duty owed [a policeman or firernan] by the owner or occupant of the premises is to refrain from wanton negligence or willful conduct and to warn him of any defect or condition known to the owner or occupant to be dangerous, if such danger is not open to ordinary observation by the [policeman or fireman].

Id. at 432.

It is further undisputed that the Defendant knew that the firemen were on the premises and therefore the duty to warn of the hidden holes arose. <u>Hall v. Holton</u>, 330 So.2d 81 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); <u>Berglin v. Adams Chevrolet</u>, 458 So.2d 866 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) <u>see also</u>, <u>Price v. Morgan</u>, 436 So.2d 1116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983):

The application of either the "licensee rule" or the "fireman's rule" does not, however, preclude recovery for injuries by a fireman under any and all circumstances, just because he is on the premises in the discharge of his duties. If considered a licensee, once his presence on the premises is known or should reasonably be anticipated by the owner, the owner has the obligation to refrain from wanton negligence or willful conduct and to warn the licensee of defects or conditions known to the owner to be

dangerous when such danger is not open to ordinary observation by the licensee and when there is reasonable opportunity to give such warning.

Id. at 1121.

In Hall v. Holton, 330 So.2d 81 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976) the District Court reversed the entry of Summary Judgment in favor of a defendant building owner, finding that where a dangerous condition existed on the owner's premises which was not open to ordinary observation, the owner had a duty to the policeman, who could reasonably be expected to be on the owner's premises, to warn about the condition. In Hall the owner had been advised that the floors in his building were rotten, even though no holes were apparent; and the court found that factual questions were created by the owner's apparent knowledge that the floors in the building posed a danger. This is significant to the present case as the evidence shows that the Defendant was fully aware that the firemen would be on the premises and there is a strong inference that they knew a dangerous condition existed which posed a hazard to the firemen. The combination of the existing concealed dangerous condition, the owner's implied knowledge of the condition, and the reasonable expectation that a policeman would be on the premises, gave rise to factual questions regarding the owner's knowledge of the condition which placed a duty on him and whether the owner fulfilled his duty, and these factual questions warranted a reversal of Summary Judgment. With the same reasoning, Summary Judgment must be reversed below for a resolution of the owner's knowledge of the land's condition, which placed a duty on the Defendant to warn, as a matter of law,

and whether it fulfilled the duty to the firemen in this case.

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