IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,454

DANIEL H. BRANTLEY,

Petitioner,

vs .

GIRL SCOUT COUNCIL OF TROPICAL FLORIDA, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

NOV 9. 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

On Appeal From The Third District Court of Appeal of Florida

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT,
GIRL SCOUT COUNCIL OF TROPICAL FLORIDA, INC.

Philip Glatzer, Esquire HIGHSMITH, STRAUSS & GLATZER, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 3370 Mary Street Coconut Grove, Florida 33133 (305) 443-4040

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

The first and third contentions were not raised by the pleadings, pursuant to which the final summary judgment was entered, and we cannot entertain these points for the first time on this appeal.".

<u>Davis v. Major Oil Company</u>, 164 So.2d 558, 559 (Fla. 3d DCA 1964), emphasis supplied.

* * * * *

"The defendants urge that the trial court erred in failing to permit leave to amend the counter and cross claim. However, we fail to find any application to the trial court in the record to allow such an amendment.

It is elementary that before a trial judge will be held in error, he must be presented with an opportunity to rule on the matter before him.". • •

Margolis v. Klein, 184 So.2d 205, 206 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966).

* * * * *

"Mildred Hunter, as personal representative of the Estate of her deceased husband, appeals an order of final summary judgment in which she raises an issue that she failed to assert below. <u>Unfortunately, a party may not raise an issue for the first time on appeal from a summary judgment. Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 1981)."</u>

Hunter v. Employers Mutual Liability Insurance Company of Wisconsin, 427 So.2d 199 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1982).

* * * * *

"It is a well established fundamental principle of law that a ground for relief not presented at the trial level will not be considered for the first time on appeal. Sands v. Ivy Liquors, Inc., Fla.App. 1966, 192 So.2d 775, 776; Michael v. Bayshore Marina, Inc., Fla.App. 1966, 183 S.2d 294, 296; Nelson v. Cravero Constructors, Inc., Fla.App. 1960, 117 So.2d 764, 766; Slatcoff v. Dezen, Fla. 1954, 76 So.2d 792, 793; Gautier v. Biscayne Shores Imp. Corp., Fla. 1953, 68 So.2d 386, 389-390. See generally 2 Fla.Jur., Appeals, Secs. 66, 290 (1963, Supp. 1967). Since appellant did not plead or in any other manner raise the issue of trespass at the trial below, he cannot argue that the trial court erroneously refused to submit it to the jury."

<u>Jackson v. Whitmire Construction Company</u>, 202 So.2d 861, 862 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1967), emphasis supplied.

* * * * *

"Issues not presented to the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal. <u>Dober v. Worrell</u>, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981)."

Atwood v. Hendrix, 439 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983)

* * * * *

"...A matter raised for the first time on appeal and not originally raised in the trial court is not well taken."..

<u>Jaruagua Enterprises, Inc. v. Dom, Inc.</u>, 339 So.2d 702, 703 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)

* * * * *

"As a general rule, before a trial judge will be held in error, he must be presented with an opportunity to rule on the matter before him. Margolis v. Klein, 184 So.2d 205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). An amendment to the pleadings is therefore usually necessary where issues are sought to be litigated which are not raised by the pleadings. See, Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.190."

<u>Amazon v. Davidson</u>, 390 So.2d 383, 386, n.2 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980)

D. Even If Brantley Had Pled A Viable Cause Of Action Under The Firemen's Rule, Girl Scout Council Would Still Have Been Entitled To Summary Judgment Based On The Facts And Common Sense.

Brantley has suggested in his brief that on January 1985, he fell into post holes 6-8 inches in diameter dug in the ground at Camp Choee when the "chain-link fence was installed." Brantley further claims that these post holes were overgrown with and obscured by grass. (See Brantley's brief at pp. 4-5.) The fence was installed in 1981 and the terrain of Camp Choee was replete with holes made by animals and nature. Certainly, Brantley cannot seriously contend that during a fire, Girl Scout Council had a duty to warn him about holes in the ground made by rats, snakes and foxes and covered by grass any more than it had a duty to warn about alleged grass covered holes dug by man years prior to his alleged fall. Moreover, Brantley has sight of the practicalities surrounding the fire at Camp Choee. The fire presented an emergency situation wherein it would been nothing short of <u>ludicrous</u> for a member of the staff of Girl Scout Council to suggest to the firefi'ghters that they should beware of holes in the ground covered over by grass when the firefighters fighting a fire at dusk could hardly see where they were walking through the bushes because of the smoke generated by the fire on Camp Choee's twenty acre tract of land and the

preposterous thought of imposing such a duty on a landowner is precisely what led the court in Romedy v. Johnston, supra, to state as follows:

a

.Since the occurrence of fires unpredictable, it would be wholly impractical unreasonable to require the owner or occupant of premises to exercise at all times the high degree of care owed to an invitee in order to guard against the remote possibility that a fire may occur and a fireman, while fighting the fire, may become exposed to a dangerous condition created by the negligent manner in which the owner has maintained his premises. The emergency situation most generally created by outbreak of a fire does not permit time for conferences between the owner and members of the fire department in order that defective conditions of the building be pointed out and dangers thereby avoided by those responsibility for containing and having extinguishing the blaze. For these reasons, and many others, the policy of the law refuses to impose owners and occupants of premises the obligation to firemen which is owed to invitees."

Romedy v. Johnston, supra, at 491, emphasis supplied.

Certainly, if, during an <u>emergency situation</u>, the owner of a building has no duty to have a conference with firefighters about defective conditions in a building which might endanger the firefighters in the performance of their duties, <u>Romedy</u>, supra, the staff at Girl Scout Council had no duty, during a brush fire on a twenty acre camp, to tiptoe through the tulips with Brantley and his fellow firefighters and discuss the potential dangers of holes covered over with grass on a rough, weedy and rocky terrain, which could hardly be seen through the smoke in any event.

It is also obvious that both prior to and after the arrival of the firefighters at Camp Choee, no <u>reasonable opportunity</u> existed for Girl Scout Council to warn the firefighters about grass covered holes, even assuming the existence of a duty to do so, since (1): the firefighters were called to the camp on an <u>emergency</u> basis: (2): only a few minutes elapsed between the time the firefighters were summoned and their actual arrival, and (3): upon their arrival, the firefighters wanted all members of Girl Scout Council off the premises and away from the fire. ²

For all of the above reasons, Girl Scout Council would have still been entitled to summary judgment even if Brantley had made appropriate allegations in his complaint under the firemen's rule.

E. The Cases Cited BY Brantley In Support Of His Duty To Warn Argument Are Not On Point.

Brantley's reliance on <u>Hall v. Holton</u>, 330 So.2d 81 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976) is misplaced, because in <u>Hall</u>, the Second District clearly held that a duty to warn a licensee such as a fireman or policeman arises only if the owner of the premises can reasonably <u>anticipate</u> that the licensee will be coming onto his property and

а

²Furthermore, the complaint does not even allege that there was a <u>reasonable opportunity</u> to warn the firemen prior to their arrival on the scene, although Brantley now makes this argument for the first time on appeal. Therefore, summary judgment was proper for this additional reason. <u>See</u>, <u>Price v. Morgan</u>, supra, at 1121-1122.

has sufficient opportunity to warn prior thereto. See, <u>Hall</u> at 83. Indeed, in <u>Hall</u>, the defendant-landowner <u>knew</u> that policemen periodically entered upon his property, whereas here, the fire at Camp Choee was a sudden emergency which the girl scouts could not have <u>anticipated</u>. In fact, the distinction between the situation in <u>Hall</u> and an emergency situation created by a fire was drawn by the Fifth District in <u>Price v. Morgan</u>, supra.

Brantley's reliance on <u>Berglin v. Adams Chevrolet</u>, 458 So.2d 866 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) is also misplaced, because in <u>Berglin</u>, there was a factual issue raised by the pleadings regarding the defendant's <u>duty to warn</u> the plaintiff-licensee, whereas here, as shown in Section I, A., supra, there never was any issue of Girl Scout Council's <u>duty to warn</u> raised by the pleadings below and, as previously shown, Brantley <u>never</u> moved the trial court for leave to amend his complaint to plead *any* duty and failure on the part of Girl Scout Council to warn Brantley of anything.

e

ARGUMENT II

BRANTLEY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO ARGUE ON APPEAL THAT SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PREMATURE IN LIGHT OF THE STATUS OF PRE-TRIAL DISCOVERY, SINCE BRANTLEY DID NOT FOLLOW THE DICTATES OF 1.510(F) FLA.R.CIV.P. IN THE LOWER COURT AND SINCE, IN ANY EVENT, THE FACTS SHOW THAT BRANTLEY DID NOT INTEND TO CONDUCT FURTHER DISCOVERY.

Rule 1.510(f), Fla.R.Civ.P. provides a remedy for a party opposing a motion for summary judgment who believes that he needs to take additional discovery.

"(f) When Affidavits Are Unavailable. If it appears from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just."

Cases decided by the Third District Court of Appeal under this rule have held that a party who has not sought a continuance in the trial court of a hearing on a motion for summary judgment on the ground that discovery was incomplete and also has not filed an affidavit in the trial court explaining why discovery is incomplete and what additional discovery is necessary, may not complain on appeal that summary judgment was prematurely entered by the trial court.

"Turning to plaintiff's last point on appeal urging that the summary final judgment was premature, we hold that the record does not support this theory. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure provide a remedy for a party opposing a motion who finds that additional affidavits or depositions are necessary. Plaintiff, having failed to follow the rule even to move for a continuance of the hearing on the motion, may not claim error in the appellate court because the trial judge

proceeded as provided by the rules. Cf. Pase v. Staley, 226 So.2d 129, 131 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969)."

Steiner v. Ciba-Geigy Corporation, 364 So.2d 47 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

See also, McNutt v. Sherrill, 141 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962) and CIA. Ecuatoriana De Aviacion, C.A. v. U.S. and Overseas Corp., 144 So.2d 338 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962).

In the instant case, although Brantley is correct that summary judgment should not be prematurely entered where discovery is not complete, he is not correct in arguing that the trial court's summary judgment was prematurely entered because Brantley needed time to take additional discovery based on Maria Tejera's deposition testimony, since Brantley never preserved this issue for appeal by filing an affidavit or a verified motion pursuant to Rule 1.510(f), Fla.R.Civ.P., seeking a continuance of the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment for good cause. Steiner v. Ciba-Geigy Corporation, supra.

It is also necessary to point out that Brantley's <u>present</u> claim that he needed to depose all of the Girl Scout Council's staff present at the time of his alleged accident to prove his case (See Brantley's brief at pp. 8-9, 18-19) is not made in good faith, because when during the deposition of Maria Tejera,

a

³At p. 17 of his brief, Brantley states that he "advised the trial court that he had not been able to complete discovery. ..." This was clearly insufficient to warrant a continuance of the summary judgment hearing under <u>Steiner</u>, supra.

counsel for Girl Scout offered to take a break from the deposition so that Mrs. Tejera could call the Girl Scout Council office and obtain the addresses of those persons present at the camp on the date of fire, counsel for Brantley responded "perhaps" that could be done "at the end of the deposition," but counsel never requested this information either at the end of the deposition or at any other time prior to the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, notwithstanding his knowledge that the site manager and the property manager, whose testimony he now claims to be crucial, were no longer employed by Girl Scout [R. 162-166, 176-1771 Obviously, counsel for Brantley Council. cannot seriously arque that he intended to depose persons whose addresses he did not request after an express offer by Girl Scout Council to provide them and his failure to file an affidavit attesting to his need to take any further depositions bears Indeed, it seems apparent that the very purpose of affidavit requirement in 1.510(f), Fla.R.Civ.P. is to prevent parties such as Brantley from attempting to prevent the entry of summary judgment on frivolous grounds.

a

It is obvious that Brantley has waived any right to complain that Judge Hickey's summary judgment was premature.

ARGUMENT III

GIRL SCOUT COUNCIL DID NOT "RESIST" PROVIDING INFORMATION TO BRANTLEY AND BRANTLEY HAS MISREPRESENTED THE CONTENTS OF MARIA TEJERA'S DEPOSITION TESTIMONY.

Brantley claims that Girl Scout Council resisted providing him with information about post holes at Camp Choee but supplies no record evidence of this and Brantley sarcastically complains in his brief that Maria Tejera knew nothing about the property at Camp Choee, but apparently what has upset Brantley is Maria Tejera's testimony that neither she nor anyone else at Girl Scout Council had any knowledge about either Brantley's alleged accident or the holes Brantley allegedly fell into and no knowledge of anyone else ever falling into a hole at the camp.

[R. 191, 206-207, 212-213, 233-2351

а

ARGUMENT IV

THE THIRD DISTRICT'S OPINION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH SANDERSON AND IN ANY EVENT, BRANTLEY WAS INJURED WHILE IN THE DISCHARGE OF HIS DUTIES AS A FIREFIGHTER. THEREFORE, THE FIREMEN'S RULE UNQUESTIONABLY APPLIES TO HIS CLAIM.

In Rishel v. Eastern Airlines, supra, this court made it clear that as long as a plaintiff-fireman is injured during "the discharge of the duties for which (he) was called to the property. . . " the firemen's rule applies to his claim. <u>Rishel</u>, supra, at 1138. Here it is uncontroverted that Brantley was injured during the discharge of the duties for which he was called to Camp Choee, i.e., fighting a fire, and surely stumbling and falling while fighting a brush fire on a bushy, weedy, rocky and rough terrain enveloped by dark smoke was a risk associated with Brantley's duty to help extinguish the Camp Choee fire. Therefore, the firemen's rule clearly applies to Brantley. Moreover, Brantley's claim that this court is "re-evaluating the viability of the firemen's rule" by reviewing Kilpatrick v. Sklar, 497 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) and Sanderson v. Freedom Savings & Loan Assoc., 496 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), is a half-truth. In <u>Kilpatrick v. Sklar</u>, supra, the Third District ruled that the firemen's rule does not apply in situations governed by the Florida dog bite statute and in Sanderson v. Freedom Savings & Loan Assoc., supra, the First District, citing the Third District's opinion in Rishel v. Eastern Airlines, supra, reaffirmed the viability of the firemen's rule by holding

a

that in a case falling within this rule, the plaintiff must allege willful and wanton negligence in order to state a cause of action. Neither case even hinted that the firemen's rule should be abrogated in toto and there is no reason to assume or suspect that this court will do so either.

a

a

The Third District's decision to affirm the trial court's summary judgment simply does not conflict in any respect with either <u>Kilpatrick</u> or <u>Sanderson</u>, supra, because this case does not involve either the dog bite statute or willful and wanton negligence and, in any event, as previously shown, Brantley never pled any <u>viable</u> cause of action in his complaint and never moved the trial court for leave to plead a <u>viable</u> cause of action, thereby <u>waiving</u> the arguments he is attempting to make for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, the Third District's per curiam affirmance should be approved, regardless of this court's disposition of <u>Sanderson</u>.

CONCLUSION

For the above-mentioned reasons, the Third District's per curiam affirmance should be approved.